#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Petitioner,	)
V.	Case No. 78, 8722
ROLAND SMITH,	) SID J. WHITE
Respondent.	APR 5 1989
	) CLERK, SUPREME COURT
	ByDeputy Clerk

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

## BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

## CAROL M. DITTMAR

Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

/mev

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent, ROLAND SMITH, was indicted by a grand jury for first-degree murder on April 22, 1986 (R. 1089-1090) Following a jury trial, the respondent was convicted of murder in the second-degree (R. 1241, 1022-1024). The respondent appealed his judgment and sentence to the Second District Court of Appeal challenging, among other things, the adequacy of the trial court's instructions to the jury.

The district court found fundamental error in the trial court's failure to give the long form standard jury instruction on excusable homicide in conjunction with the manslaughter instruction, and remanded for a new trial despite the lack of objection to the giving of the short form excusable homicide Smith v. State, 14 F.L.W 541 (Fla. 2d DCA February instruction. 24, 1989). The district court noted that there was evidence to support the defense of excusable homicide, and that the respondent had admittedly used a dangerous weapon in killing the victim. Id. at 542. The district court recognized that there could be several theories in requiring that the long form instruction on excusable homicide be given, and discussed two separate contexts for purposes of this case: (a) when evidence has been offered to support the defense of excusable homicide,

The petitioner respectfully takes issue with this finding by the district court.

and (b) when there is an alleged failure by the trial court to instruct accurately on the definition of excusable homicide as part of the definition of the lesser included offense of manslaughter.

As to the first situation, the district court found that there was no fundamental error in the failure to give the long form excusable homicide instruction since the short form excusable homicide instruction had been given. In so holding, the district court certified the following question to this Court as being of great public importance:

WAS THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE LONG FORM INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE FUNDAMENTAL WHEN SHORT FORM EXCUSABLE  ${
m THE}$ INSTRUCTION HAD BEEN GIVEN, WHEN THE DEFENDANT HAD NEITHER REQUESTED THE LONG FORM INSTRUCTION OBJECTED TO THE GIVING OF THE SHORT FORM INSTRUCTION, AND WHEN THAT DEFENSE WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?

As to the second situation, the court discussed the somewhat contradictory and inconsistent law in this area, and held that fundamental error was committed by the trial court's failure to include the long form instruction on excusable homicide in connection with its instruction on manslaughter. In so holding, the district court certified the following question to this Court as being of great public importance:

WHEN A DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF SECOND-DEGREE MURDER, WAS THERE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAD FOLLOWED THE

STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND GIVEN THE SHORT FORM INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE AT THE OUTSET OF THE HOMICIDE INSTRUCTIONS AND HAD GIVEN NO FURTHER INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN CONNECTION WITH ITS INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER?

Thereafter, the petitioner, STATE OF FLORIDA, filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(v), Fla.R.App.P. and the district court granted the petitioner's motion to stay issuance of the mandate.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- Τ. fundamental error is demonstrated by the trial court's failure to give the long form standard jury instruction on excusable homicide, despite the district court's finding that evidence was presented to support that defense. The jury was instructed on the short definition of excusable homicide, and that definition is not constitutionally infirm. Instructions as particular defense are within the province to responsibility of defense counsel. The district court properly answered the first certified question in the negative.
- fundamental error is demonstrated by the trial 11. long form excusable homicide court's failure to give the instruction as part of the definition of the lesser included offense of manslaughter. The use of the short form definition of excusable homicide does not make the manslaughter instruction constitutionally infirm. A finding of fundamental error on these facts is inconsistent with the application of the harmless error doctrine. The jury had the opportunity to exercise its "pardon power" and convict the respondent of manslaughter, since it was properly instructed on the positive elements of that offense and the only error was in the definition of an exclusion to that offense which was necessarily rejected by the verdict of guilty of second-degree murder. Any error in a material element of an offense is harmless when that element does not apply to the facts

of the case, and such error does not destroy the value of the instruction as a whole.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE LONG FORM DEFENSE OF INSTRUCTION ON  $\mathrm{THE}$ EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN THE SHORT FORM EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE INSTRUCTION HAD BEEN GIVEN, WHENTHEDEFENDANT HAD NEITHER REQUESTED THE LONG FORM INSTRUCTION OBJECTED TO THE GIVING OF THE SHORT FORM INSTRUCTION, AND WHEN THAT DEFENSE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The district court found that the failure to give the long form instruction on excusable homicide did not amount to fundamental error, despite the fact that the defense of excusable homicide was supported by the evidence. It is respectfully submitted that this holding was proper and should not be disturbed by this Court.

The district court distinguished the line of cases, culminating with <u>Tobey v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), adopting the statement, "[t]he failure to give an instruction on a defense encompassed within the evidence is fundamental error and reviewable notwithstanding the absence of a requested instruction or an objection." 533 So.2d at 1200. The district court noted that statement appears to have been dicta, and would not apply to the case at hand where the arguably inaccurate short form excusable homicide instruction had been given. The district court opined that such a rule of fundamental error was not intended as a general rule, "...and

would place an unrealistically severe burden on trial judges concerning a matter which should properly be within the province and responsibility of defense counsel as a matter of trial tactics and strategy." 14 F.L.W. at 542.

The district court also cited this Court's opinion in Smith v. State, 521 \$0.2d 106 (Fla. 1988), as support for its holding. In Smith, this Court held that the giving of the jury instruction on insanity which had been disapproved in Yohn v. State, 476 So.2d 123 (Fla. 1985), did not amount to fundamental error requiring reversal in the absence of an objection. Although the disapproved standard jury instruction did not completely and accurately state the law as to insanity in Florida, this court noted that "[t]here was no constitutional infirmity in the old standard jury instruction because there is no denial of due process to place the burden of proof of insanity on the defendant." 521 So.2d at 107. The finding in Smith that there was no fundamental error, despite the fact that there was evidence presented to support the instruction at issue and the accurate than instruction itself was less the instruction put forth in Yohn, demonstrates that the district court in this case was correct in answering the first certified question in the negative.

## ISSUE II

WHETHER THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE LONG FORM INSTRUCTION ON DEFENSE OF  $\mathrm{THE}$ EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE WAS FUNDAMENTAL **ERROR** WHEN DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF SECOND-DEGREE MURDER, WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAD FOLLOWED THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND GIVEN SHORT FORM INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE THE OUTSET OF THE HOMICIDE INSTRUCTIONS AND HAD GIVEN NO FURTHER INSTRUCTION EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN CONNECTION WITH INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER.

Although the district court answered this second certified question affirmatively and reversed this case and remanded for a new trial, it recognized that "there is considerable disagreement and lack of clarity in this area of the law...". 14 F.L.W. at 542. It is respectfully submitted that the ultimate finding of fundamental error herein is inconsistent with this Court's reasoning in other cases applying a harmless error analysis, as demonstrated by the following argument.

The manslaughter instruction is unique, because manslaughter is "...a residual offense which is actually defined by reference to what it is not." Kelsey v. State, 410 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Thus, the offense of manslaughter is comprised of positive elements (that the victim's death resulted from the act, procurement, or culpable negligence of the defendant) and negative elements (that the victim's death was not justifiable or excusable). §782.07, Fla. Stat. A finding of manslaughter is itself a two-step process. That is, the jury must find initially

that the positive elements of manslaughter have been proven by the state. Next, the jury must conclude from the evidence presented that the death was not legally justified or excused.

The giving of the short form excusable homicide instruction does not interfere with the jury's ability to conclude that the positive elements of manslaughter have been proven. Therefore, a jury is not denied the opportunity to exercise its inherent "pardon power" and convict a defendant of manslaughter. The danger presented when only the short form definition has been given is that a jury may convict a defendant of manslaughter when the facts found by the jury demonstrate that the death was However, when a judgment of guilty of second-degree murder has been returned, the jury has necessarily rejected the positive elements of manslaughter in favor of the more serious charge, and the danger that the jury was misled by the short definition of excusable homicide is irrelevant. The giving of the short form excusable homicide instruction therefore amounts to harmless error under this Court's decision in State v. Abreau, 363 \$0.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978).

This reasoning was implicitly adopted by the third district in <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 535 So.2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) and explicitly rejected by the second district in this case. The court below noted:

"The reasoning of <u>Garcia</u> was that because the jury, in convicting defendant of second-

degree murder, found that he had acted with a mind, the could depraved jury concluded that he acted justifiably excusably. However, we respectfully disagree with the application of that reasoning. We do not disagree that the fact that the jury found that defendant had acted with a depraved mind means that the jury could not have concluded that he had acted justifiably or excusably. Nonetheless, we do not conclude that that would mean that the jury could not have convicted manslaughter. defendant of Indeed, conclusion that the jury thereby found no defense to manslaughter means that the jury defendant convicted could have manslaughter. Thus, it appears to us that the Garcia conclusion is essentially that the fact jury convicted defendant of the offense meant that it would not have convicted him of an offense one step lesser if the jury had been correctly instructed on that lesser offense. Wе would disagree with conclusion, especially having in mind a jury's inherent pardon power. As is stated in Abreau, 363 So.2d at 1064 'the failure to instruct on the next immediate lesser included offense (one step removed) constitutes error that is per se reversible." 14 F.L.W. at 543-544, fn. 2. (emphasis in original).

The second district's reasoning that the jury was denied the opportunity to convict the defendant of manslaughter is based on the conclusion that the manslaughter instruction was incomplete, without examining how the instruction was incomplete or how the incompleteness affected the instruction as a whole or its impact on the jury. While this reasoning is sound and consistent with established rules (that fundamental error is committed when an element of an offense is inadequately defined, and the error is harmless if the inadequate definition involves an offense more

than two steps removed from the offense for which a defendant is convicted), the uniqueness of the manslaughter offense should demand flexibility in the application of these rules when the fairness of a defendant's trial has not been impeded.

Therefore, this Court should recognize that the giving of the short form excusable homicide instruction does not amount to fundamental error when a defendant is convicted of second-degree murder, because the jury could not have been misled by the definition of an exclusion to the offense of manslaughter when that exclusion necessarily did not apply to the facts of the case. As the district courts in both Garcia and the instant case recognize, the finding that a defendant acted with a depraved is inconsistent with the finding that the killing in question was excusable. It belies common sense to suggest that the fairness of a defendant's trial was infected by an incorrect definition to an element of manslaughter that did not apply to the facts. While it is logical to conclude that the jury was denied an opportunity to exercise its inherent "pardon power" and defendant of manslaughter when convict a an element manslaughter was improperly defined, it is not logical to ignore the fact that the improper definition could not have affected the jury and find that fundamental error has been committed on these facts.

This argument is supported by the district court's finding that no fundamental error has been presented on the facts of the first certified question examined in Issue I herein. In order to fundamental error from the giving of inadequate an manslaughter instruction, it is necessary to find that the definition of manslaughter which included the short excusable homicide definition was constitutionally infirm. Smith v. State, 521 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1988). To date, no one has suggested and no district court has found the instruction to be constitutionally infirm. Although Blitch v. State, 427 So.2d 785 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) noted that the instruction appears to be inaccurate, and Kingery v. State, 523 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) agrees that the instruction is misleading, an arguably misleading instruction is still а long way from being constitutionally infirm. The short form excusable homicide instruction has been used since at least 1942, Caingetti v. Chapman, 149 Fla. 497, 6 So. 2d 380 (1942), and it has probably been used since the enactment of the statute in 1868. 5782.03, Fla. Stat. Yet no difficulty was identified with the instruction until Blitch was rendered in 1983.

In conclusion, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should expand the holding of <u>State v. Abreau</u>, <u>supra</u>, to reject the finding of fundamental error on the facts presented herein. Consistent with the reasoning of <u>Abreau</u>, the jury was given the

opportunity to exercise its inherent "pardon power" when the positive elements of the manslaughter offense were correctly stated, and the justifiable and short form excusable homicide definitions were given. The interests of justice simply do not compel the finding of fundamental error on the facts of this case.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and citations of authority, the petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to reverse the district court's order for a new trial.