IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :
Petitioner, :
vs. :
ROLAND SMITH, :
Respondent. :

Case No. 73,822

FILED
SID J. WHITE ✓

APR 24 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Deputy Clerk ✓

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT/CROSS-
PETITIONER

TOPICAL

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An erroneous and misleading instruction that goes to the heart of the defense is fundamental reversible error. An erroneous and misleading instruction on a one-step lesser crime from that which the defendant is convicted is also fundamental per se reversible error. A new trial is required due to the fact that the trial court only gave the short form of excusable homicide on the manslaughter lesser, and this short form is erroneous and misleading.

Upon retrial, the following evidentiary problems should be corrected: (1) the prosecutor should not have been allowed to have Ms. Estes called as a court witness so that he could impeach her testimony. There were no drastic changes in her testimony that would allow impeachment. In the alternative, the prosecutor should not have been allowed to use Ms. Estes' prior statements as substantive evidence. These statements did not fall under the hearsay exception. Lastly, use of irrelevant collateral crimes in this statement highly prejudiced Mr. Smith. (2) A State witness was improperly asked by the prosecutor if Mr. Smith had tried to claim self defense at the scene, which he did not; and this constituted a comment on Mr. Smith's right to remain silent. (3) Springing autopsy photos on the young Ms. Estes resulting in an emotional outburst also prejudiced Mr. Smith's case. (4) Prohibiting Mr. Smith from having his witnesses corroborate specific acts of violence constituted error. It was for the jury

to weigh witness credibility in determining the claim of self-defense; and the defense witnesses would have assisted the defendant in his defense.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WAS THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE LONG FORM INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN THE SHORT FORM EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE INSTRUCTION HAD BEEN GIVEN, WHEN THE DEFENDANT HAD NEITHER REQUESTED THE LONG FORM INSTRUCTION NOR OBJECTED TO THE GIVING OF THE SHORT FORM INSTRUCTION, AND WHEN THAT DEFENSE WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE? (AS CERTIFIED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL)

Restated more simply, the issue here is whether an erroneous and misleading instruction that goes to the heart of the defense is fundamental error. The Second District Court of Appeal rejected its own prior cases and those of this court and other district courts of appeal when it answered the above in the negative. The Second District Court of Appeal decided that jury instructions on a defense should be defense counsel's responsibility as a matter of trial tactics and strategy and should not be the "burden" of the trial court. Mr. Smith respectfully submits that charging the jury properly and correctly is the duty of the trial court, and that any defense counsel who would intentionally not request a proper instruction on the heart of the defense in the name of trial tactics or strategy would have to have his competence as an attorney seriously questioned. It is incomprehensible that a defense counsel would intentionally want to have the jury erroneously instructed on the defense so as to

deny his client the chance of having the jury acquit the defendant. What kind of trial tactic or strategy would that be? More likely defense counsel would inadvertently fail to see a problem with the jury defense instruction. In such a case where this oversight results in an erroneous instruction on the heart of the defense then--if the burden falls entirely on defense counsel--the standards for being effective counsel have not been met under Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981), and a new trial should be conducted on that basis.

Contrary to the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion, however, the main responsibility for the giving of proper jury instructions has been declared by this court to be on the trial court. As was pointed out in Yohn v. State, 476 So.2d 123 (Fla. 1985), the approval of standard jury instructions has not relieved the trial judge of his responsibility of correctly charging the jury. It is the trial court's responsibility to charge the jury on every defense which is recognized by the law and sustained by any testimony. Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981); and Rodriguez v. State, 396 So.2d 798 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). In addition; if the trial court attempts to define the crime for which the defendant is accused, it is the duty of the trial court to define each and every element. Motley v. State, 155 Fla. 545, 20 So.2d 798 (1945). Thus, contrary to the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in this case, the burden of proper jury instructions on the defense does and must fall on the trial court.

This conclusion is not only supported by these legal

axioms but by the way they have been applied. The following cases found reversible error where the trial court failed to adequately instruct on an affirmative defense: In Carter v. State, 469 So.2d 194 at 196 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), the court stated that when "a trial judge gives an instruction that is an incorrect statement of the law and necessarily misleading to the jury, and the effect of that instruction is to negate the defendant's only defense, it is fundamental error and highly prejudicial to the defendant." The court went on to state that "[f]ailure to give a complete and accurate instruction is fundamental error, reviewable in the complete absence of a request or objection." Id. Carter dealt with an erroneous "duty to retreat" instruction. In Rodriguez, supra, the court found reversible error where the court did not instruct on a defense to intent to take in a grand theft case. In Bagley v. State, 119 So.2d 400 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960), the court found fundamental reversible error when the trial court failed to instruct on the defense of justifiable homicide. And in Motley, supra, this court refused to use a harmless error analysis and found fundamental reversible error in an instruction on self defense in a homicide case. The defendant in Motley was convicted of second-degree murder, and the trial court's instruction on self defense was erroneous and misleading. Defense counsel did not object to the erroneous instruction but did ask for a definition of assault. This definition made matters even worse.

In Mr. Smith's case the trial court only gave the short form of excusable homicide (R1212, 1358, 1359). Mr. Smith's

defense in this case was basically grounded in self defense in that he had initially picked up the gun because he was afraid of Cascio (R889) . There was also evidence that Cascio had forced himself on Josette to the point where she became very upset, and Mr. Smith was aware that something was amiss (R883-888, 385, 901, 651-656). Obviously, Mr. Smith's state of mind when he pulled the trigger was at issue. Because the theory of defense was excusable homicide, it was incumbent upon the trial court to give a full and accurate jury instruction on excusable homicide. Furthermore, the giving of the manslaughter instruction requires the complete definition of justifiable and excusable homicide. Last but not least, the introductory instruction on the defense of excusable homicide is inherently misleading because it inaccurately suggests that a killing with a dangerous weapon can never be excusable.² Blicht v. State, 427 So.2d 785 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Kingery v. State, 523 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Although the Second District Court of Appeal acknowledged the fact that a complete instruction on excusable homicide was necessary in this case and the incomplete instruction was misleading, it refused to apply a fundamental error analysis. In footnote 1 the court noted that although Carter, supra, and Rodriguez, supra, speak of fundamental error, their factual situations did not apply the fundamental error doctrine because

²In closing the prosecutor argued that a dangerous weapon could not result in an excusable homicide (R1276), and defense counsel was having a difficult time dealing with this (R1309, 1310, 1343).

objections had been made. The Second District Court of Appeal then tried to distinguish Baaley, supra, where the fundamental error doctrine was applied by noting that the trial court gave a misleading instruction on justifiable homicide as opposed to Mr. Smith's situation where "no instruction was read" (footnote 1). Whatever distinction the Second District Court of Appeal is trying to make here escapes undersigned counsel. The trial court gave an incomplete instruction on excusable homicide--a necessary part of the manslaughter instruction which is only one step removed from the second-degree murder conviction Mr. Smith received--and the incomplete instruction was misleading and erroneous. The Second District Court of Appeal does not discuss Motley, supra, which is a situation that not only involves fundamental error but error that was contributed to by defense counsel in regards to the self defense instruction on a second-degree murder conviction. (It is to be noted that Motley's factual situation is very similar to Mr. Smith's in that both involved the defendant using a gun when faced with an aggressive victim and a misleading instruction on self defense that hit the heart of the defendant's case.)

The Second District Court of Appeal and Attorney General also point to this court's opinion in Smith v. State, 521 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1988), as support for not applying the fundamental error doctrine. A careful reading of Smith, however, fails to provide the support desired. Although Smith refused to apply fundamental error to the use of the insanity defense instruction after an earlier case had found the standard instruction not sufficiently

clear as to the burden of establishing sanity when there is evidence of insanity, the Smith case notes that the inadequate instruction on insanity was not so flawed as to deprive a defendant claiming the insanity defense of a fair trial. "Despite any shortcomings, the standard jury instructions, as a whole, made it quite clear that the burden of proof was on the State to prove all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. at 108. In Mr. Smith's case the misleading instruction on excusable is so flawed as to have deprived Mr. Smith of a fair trial because it states that a dangerous weapon (which is then later defined as including a gun) can never be used in an excusable homicide defense. Since Mr. Smith's case involved a gun, the erroneous, misleading instruction deprived Mr. Smith of his defense; of an element of the next-step lesser included; and, therefore, of a fair trial. The interests of justice require that the fundamental error doctrine be applied.

ISSUE II

WHEN A DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF SECOND-DEGREE MURDER, WAS THERE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAD FOLLOWED THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND GIVEN THE SHORTFORM INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE AT THE OUTSET OF THE HOMICIDE INSTRUCTIONS AND HAD GIVEN NO FURTHER INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE IN CONNECTION WITH ITS INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER? (AS CERTIFIED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL)

As the Second District Court of Appeal notes in its decision in this case, there is considerable disagreement and lack of clarity in this area. Undersigned counsel would also add "confusion" to the list. Perhaps the main reason for all the difficulties is that several legal axioms are involved and stack up differently depending on slight but important factual deviations. In this case we are concerned with an incomplete/misleading instruction on manslaughter, a one-step lesser included erroneous charge from that which the Appellant was convicted, an initial erroneous instruction as opposed to an incomplete reinstruction, an erroneous instruction that went to the heart of Appellant's defense, and fundamental error. The applicable legal axioms in this case stack up to the conclusion of fundamental reversible error.

The basic ground level cases establish that it is reversible error for a trial court to fail to give an instruction on justifiable and excusable homicide when it gives an instruction on manslaughter. Ortaaus v. State, 500 So.2d 1367 at 1370 (Fla.

1st DCA 1987); Alejo v. State, 483 So.2d 117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965).

The next level of cases establish that the short forms of excusable and justifiable that are given at the beginning of the jury instructions are not sufficient in defining manslaughter. Ortaqus, supra. The short form of excusable can also be erroneous and misleading if the case at issue involves a dangerous weapon such as a gun. Both Kingery, supra, and Blitch, supra, point out that the short form negates the defense when a gun is involved while the complete version only negates the defense if sudden combat is involved.

The next level of cases note that there is a difference between obtaining a proper initial full and correct instruction but an incomplete re-instruction. If the situation involves a re-instruction as described above, then there must be an objection to preserve the error. If there was no objection, then cases have held that fundamental error does not exist. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Garcia v. State, 535 So.2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Rojas v. State, 535 So.2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). If, however, the situation involves the initial instruction which was incomplete, then fundamental error does exist. Ortaqus, supra; Castor, supra. As Castor points out, fundamental error will only be applied to erroneous initial instructions to the jury in order to keep the doctrine of fundamental error a limited exception. Id. at 704.

The trial level of cases deal with the requirement that

the trial court always properly instruct the jury on the next-step (one-step) lesser included and the failure to do so constitutes fundamental per se reversible error. Alejo, supra; State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978); Reddick v. State, 394 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1981); and Wheat v. State, 433 So.2d 1290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). The purpose of this rule is to allow the jury "a fair opportunity to exercise its inherent 'pardon' power by returning a verdict of guilty as to the next lower crime." Abreau, 363 So.2d at 1064. Even if factually the evidence conclusively would eliminate a next-step lesser, the jury is entitled to an instruction on that next lower crime. This is aptly demonstrated by Reddick where there evidence clearly established the use of a gun; but this court found fundamental reversible not to give the next-step lesser of robbery with a weapon. This court rejected the trial court's reasoning that either the object was a gun or it wasn't. It is this case that clearly demonstrates that the language in Rojas and Garcia as to finding it harmless error to not give the complete instruction on the next-step lesser of manslaughter when the defendants were convicted of second-degree murder is wrong. Although the factual situation may not apply to the next-step lesser, it doesn't matter. The jury is entitled to have the charge given. (Mr. Smith, of course, also agrees with the Second District Court of Appeal's reasoning that rejects Rojas and Garcia on the grounds that a finding of second-degree murder does not implicitly reject a possible finding of manslaughter. It is impossible to determine whether or not the jury would have used its

pardon power when it has not been given a full and accurate instruction on the next-step lesser crime.) In our particular case the factual situation required an instruction on excusable homicide as self defense was the issue.

As can be seen from the above, the legal axioms and facts in this case reach the inescapable conclusion that Mr. Smith is entitled to a new trial. The giving of an incomplete, erroneous initial instruction on manslaughter--a one-step lesser from the crime of second-degree murder for which Mr. Smith was convicted--constitutes fundamental per se reversible error.³

³Other errors existed in the jury instructions that should be corrected upon retrial: Mr. Smith asked for, but did not receive, an instruction on culpable negligence as part of the manslaughter instruction (R1005). Although the trial court stated that there was no evidence for such an instruction, the jury could have concluded that picking up the gun was reckless act. The issue here was not accidental or unintentional shooting; thus, it was applicable and should have been given. The retreat instruction was confusing and misleading because on one hand the jury is told that Mr. Smith must exhaust "every reasonable means to escape the danger" (R1221) and must retreat if "he could have avoided the need to use [deadly] force" (R1222), and on the other hand the jury was told that Mr. Smith had no duty to retreat if attacked in his own home (R1222). In light of the fact that the incident took place in Mr. Smith's home, he had no duty to retreat; and the two inconsistent instructions were highly misleading and/or confusing (R1264, 1265). The prosecutor argued Mr. Smith's duty to retreat in closing (R1279). The flight instruction in this case was also inapplicable. Taken as a whole, it is obvious that flight goes to the defendant's attempt to hide himself--it does not go to hiding the weapon or the body. This instruction was objected to (R1003, 1004, 1225, 1264), and should not have been given. (The prosecutor also argued flight in closing arguments - R1269, 1352.) There was no question as to Mr. Smith having gone anywhere except to the neighbors' for assistance, and he even called the police himself. No evidence of flight was present to justify this instruction. See Payne v. State, Case No. 87-1303 (Fla. 1st DCA March 28, 1989)[14 FLW 7711, where the court reversed for a new trial when the jury was erroneously instructed on flight. The defendant's act of locking doors and windows to keep the police from coming in to arrest the defendant was not an activity that could "reasonably

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DECLARING MS. ESTES TO BE A COURT WITNESS AND ALLOWING THE STATE TO UTILIZE HER PRIOR UNRELATED STATEMENT, COMPLETE WITH COLLATERAL CRIMES COMMITTED BY MR. SMITH, AS SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE? (AS STATED BY RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER)

After the jury was selected but before witnesses were placed on the stand, the prosecutor argued that he should be allowed to have Ms. Estes called as a court witness (R238-257). Although the State argued that Mr. Estes may prove to be a hostile witness and claimed that her testimony had changed dramatically in prior statements (R241-243), these supposed drastic variations in pretrial statements were never borne out by the record. What the State claimed to be drastic testimony changes actually involved additions to Ms. Estes first few statements. In her initial statements on the day of the shooting and the day after, Ms. Estes had placed the gun in Mr. Smith's hands a few seconds earlier and had omitted Cascio's aggressive behavior that had partially exhibited itself by Cascio nudging Mr. Smith. There was also no mention of Mr. Smith asking Cascio to leave (R241, 585-588, 756, 758). Ms. Estes explained these lapses by stating that in her initial statement the police had only wanted the basics (R703). What is really more apparent from the prosecutor's argument is not these "drastic changes" in testimony but Ms. Estes' friendly

characterized as evading prosecution or avoiding (as opposed to momentarily delaying) capture."

relationship with Mr. Smith. Pointing out to the trial court that Ms. Estes had visited Mr. Smith and phoned him or accepted his collect calls while Mr. Smith was in jail awaiting trial, the prosecutor finished his argument by noting and/or complaining that Ms. Estes would not speak to him the day before trial without the presence of defense counsel (R241, 242, 257, 258). [Defense counsel noted that he had made himself available for this purpose, but the prosecutor would not question Ms. Estes in front of defense counsel - R258]. The fact that Ms. Estes would not speak to the prosecutor alone was justified in that the prosecutor had already threatened her with perjury when she added the fact that Cascio had become aggressive to her statement (R705). Over objection, the trial court declared it would call Ms. Estes as a court witness (R253-257).

In a similar situation the First District Court of Appeal reversed for a new trial where the State was erroneously allowed to have its witness ruled adverse, allowed to impeach the witness with a deposition, and then allowed to argue the deposition as if it were substantive evidence. In Kingery v. State, 523 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), the defendant's girlfriend had witnessed the defendant's shooting of the victim. The victim had been harassing the defendant all night; had been trying to move in on the defendant's girlfriend; and had been drunk, belligerent, obnoxious and obscene. The defendant's defense was self defense. The supposed prior inconsistent statements were in two areas: (1) at trial the witness testified there was only 4 or 5 seconds between

the two shots fired while at her deposition the time was given as 5 to 10 seconds, and (2) at trial the witness stated that the victim was not helpless after the first shot while in her deposition she had indicated that she did not know why the defendant had fired the second shot because the victim was going to be helpless after the first shot. Noting that impeaching one's own witness is proper in only very limited circumstances, the court quoted from Adams v. State, 34 Fla. 185, 195-196, 15 So. 905, 908 (1894), in the criteria to be used:

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